### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

# HOLLY SPRINGS REALTY GROUP, LLC

**APPELLANT** 

V.

CAUSE NO.2009-CA-00923

BANCORPSOUTH BANK; NORMA S. BOURDEAUX; LANGSTON OXFORD PROPERTIES, L.P., a Mississippi Limited Partnership; SUSAN M. BRYAN; LYNN M. GRENFELL and JOHN ALBRITON

**APPELLEES** 

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY CAUSE NO. 2007-504A

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

# ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

FRANK M. HURDLE, MSB# P.O. BOX 535 116 SUTTON STREET, SUITE 2 MAYSVILLE, KY 41056 606-564-6200 606-584-8711 (Cell)

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

## HOLLY SPRINGS REALTY GROUP, LLC

APPELLANT

v.

CAUSE NO.2009-CA-00923

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Where Plaintiff's complaint did not contain Appellant's name, make any claim against Appellant or contain any operative facts to connect Appellant to the case, and Appellant raised 12(b)6 defense in its answer, did the chancellor err in granting summary judgment and foreclosure against Appellant?
- 2. In an *in rem* action where several properties were owned by different owners but subject to a common mortgage, did the Chancellor err in allowing Plaintiff to determine which property should be charged with the payment of the debt instead of requiring Plaintiff to stand quietly by while the Defendants presented their defenses to the Court, and the Court then determined an order of charging?
- 3. Did the Chancellor err in finding that according to the Inverse Order of Alienation Rule, a property purchased at a tax sale should be sold for the benefit of properties aliened from the mortgagor, even though a tax title is a perfect title bestowed by the Sovereign free and clear of any equitable burden to any other property?
- 4. Where Plaintiff secretly gave several Defendants in an *in rem* equity action permission not to file an answer until told to do so, and these parties then misled Appellant about this Mary Carter-type agreement, thus harming Appellant, did the chancellor err in refusing to estop Plaintiff from recovery against Appellant?
- 5. Did the chancellor err when he denied a Appellant's motion to dismiss case because five necessary and indispensable Co-defendants were not served within 120 days of the filing of the original complaint, as well as failure to join other necessary and indispensable parties and Plaintiff's failure to fully prosecute its case?
- 6. Did the chancellor err when he denied Appellant's motion to enter a docket entry of default against five Co-defendants who intentionally did not file an answer in an *in rem* action for more than one year, when such failure was apparently a matter of trial strategy?
- 7. Did the Chancellor, by allowing Plaintiff to unilaterally grant enlargement of time by which certain favored parties might answer, show such bias in favor of Plaintiff that Appellant was not assured of receiving a fair hearing?
- 8. In an *in rem* action, where the court must decide if or how properties are to be charged for the payment of a debt, did the chancellor err in granting summary judgment and foreclosure against Appellant when five other Defendants owning property subject to the debt had not filed an answer?
- 9. Where Plaintiff and Appellant entered into an agreed order over a property sold at a tax sale, where Appellant agreed to recognize Plaintiff's lien and Plaintiff agreed to reimburse Appellant for all taxes paid, and Plaintiff did not reimburse Appellant and began foreclosure on Defendant prior to repaying the agreed amount, did the chancellor err in not finding that

the Plaintiff's actions were a material breach of the Agreed Order which resulted in there being no lien on the property?

- 10. Where the Chancellor stated that he was basing his decision to order foreclosure of Appellant's property in large part on the fact that five non-answering Defendants had purchased their property in an "arm's length transaction," and there was no evidence to support this finding of fact, did the Chancellor err in granting summary judgment and foreclosure against Appellant?
- 11. A person such as Appellant who owns property subject to a mortgage with no personal liability on the debt is in effect a surety up to the value of his property. Did the chancellor err in failing to find that Plaintiff's dishonest behavior and bad faith towards Appellant released Appellant from its duty as a surety and thus acted to estop Plaintiff from foreclosing on Appellant?
- 12. In a foreclosure action, did the Chancellor err in ordering that the property be partitioned in foreclosure when Appellant, the only property owner that filed an answer, requested that the property be sold as a whole or not at all?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves Appellant, Holly Springs Realty Group, LLC, which purchased a condominium at the August, 2005 City of Oxford municipal tax sale. The condominium was one of 30 that had been developed by Van Buren Group LLC, which was managed by Claiborne Frazier. The project was financed by BancorpSouth Bank, which held a mortgage on the project (for simplicity's sake, Appellant treats trust deeds as mortgages and refers to them as such, which is especially appropriate as this case deals with a judicial rather than power of sale foreclosure).

Van Buren Group, LLC defaulted in its payments to BancorpSouth. BancorpSouth, while preparing to foreclose on six properties it believed to be owned by its debtor and mortgagor, found that four of these properties had apparently been deeded out without being released from the mortgage while two appeared to remain under the ownership of Van Buren Group. Defendant John Albriton was believed to have an equitable interest one of these units. As it failed to check the tax sale list recorded in the Chancery Clerk's office, BancorpSouth was unaware that Holly Springs Realty Group, LLC was the owner of record of the final unit subject to the mortgage, Unit 309, which BancorpSouth believed to still be owned by Van Buren Group (R299).

BancorpSouth filed a complaint seeking declaratory judgment and judicial foreclosure on all six units on October 1, 2007, naming as Defendants Van Buren Group, its managing member Claiborne Frazier, the loan's guarantors, Austin Frazier, C.E. Frazier, Shelby K. Brantley, Robert Crumpton, and the five other owners of property subject to the mortgage (R001). On October 18, 2007, it filed an Amended Complaint (R042). Although BancorpSouth sought relief from all parties, it chose to prosecute its case in stages. The Guarantors Frazier, Claiborne Frazier, and Van Buren Group were all served and failed to file an answer to the complaint. On Jan. 24 and 29, 2008, BancorpSouth sought and obtained default judgments against these Defendants (R100, 109, 110,

121, 123, 125) prior to obtaining service on property owners Norma S. Bourdeaux, Langston Oxford Properties, L.P., Susan M. Bryan, Lynn M. Grenfell, and John Albriton, hereinafter the "Five Other Owners."

On February 7, 2008, 129 days after the filing of the original complaint, the Five Other Owners were served with the summons and complaint (R126-34). These defendants later sought and received from Plaintiff permission not to file an answer until told to do so, although there is nothing on the court record to reflect this agreement (R265-267, T20 Kelly). Both Plaintiff and the Five Other Owners would later take steps to conceal or mislead Appellant as to the existence of this agreement (R279 #8, R224-232). These defendants never filed an answer to the complaint prior to summary judgment and had not filed one at the time this brief was filed.

During the week of February 10, 2008, Holly Springs Realty Group requested its deed to Unit 309 of the Van Buren and recorded the same. The Oxford City Clerk issued a tax deed, conveying what Appellant maintains is a perfect, virgin title free and clear of any and all encumbrances of any nature save for unpaid taxes. After recording the deed, Holly Springs Realty Group redeemed the property from subsequent tax sales by paying delinquent taxes in the amount of \$21,533.69. (R272).

Following the recording of its tax deed, Holly Springs Realty Group attempted to contact the former owner of Unit 309 in an effort to negotiate a return of the property. (R252) When these efforts failed Appellant brought an action to have its title confirmed, and it was confirmed (R247). At no time was there any allegation that the rights of the former owner were not fully and

Appellant has chosen not to address the propriety of entering a final judgment against one defendant before all necessary and indispensable parties have been joined, other than to express disapproval.

Appellant notes that attorneys John Crow and Daniel Myles Martin were not active in the case at the time this took place.

completely protected in either the sale or the confirmation process.

On March 28, 2008, BancorpSouth and Holly Springs Realty Group entered into an Agreed Order whereby BancorpSouth agreed to reimburse Appellant for all taxes paid, both at the 2005 tax sale and in redeeming the property from subsequent sales, plus 18 percent interest for the time said money was outstanding. Holly Springs Realty Group agreed to set aside the tax sale as to the lienholder only. It was agreed that title was to remain vested in Appellant (R136). Appellant was not a party to the suit at the time this Agreed Order was entered.

Appellant was to be reimbursed for its tax expenditures after the court approved the Agreed Order; however BancorpSouth, through counsel, informed Appellant that prior to making payment it wished to have it joined in this suit for the purpose of validating BancorpSouth's lien. After some disagreement because the wording of Plaintiff's Petition to Join was not what had been orally agreed upon, Appellant agreed to be joined provided that the issue of title to Unit 309 not be a subject of the suit (R273 #8). The Court agreed, with the language of the order stating: "Holly Springs Realty Group, LLC, is joined as a necessary and indispensable party, for the purposes of validating BancorpSouth's lien, and not for the purposes of determining title" (R157).

Prior to being joined, Holly Springs Realty Group's counsel twice asked counsel for Plaintiff BancorpSouth if it had any knowledge about why the Five Non-responding Co-defendants had not filed an answer. Plaintiff's counsel responded in the negative or gave a non-committal answer. At no time did Plaintiff inform Appellant of its secret agreement with the Five Other Owners (R272, T12, L28-29; T13, L1-4; T19, L4-7; T41, L18-20, Hurdle).

On May 23, 2008, Plaintiff petitioned and received from the Court an order charging certain LLC interests of Claiborne Frazier, Austin Frazier and C.E. Frazier, with the payment of the unsatisfied default judgment Plaintiff received in January 2008 (R150). Although Plaintiff has

provided no accounting to the court as to the value of these interests, based on discovery Appellant believes it is substantial (R281 #12).

Shortly after Holly Springs Realty entered into the Agreed Order it made several attempts to negotiate a release from the mortgage (R252, top of page; R273). These efforts were unsuccessful, and Plaintiff eventually responded to Appellant's efforts to negotiate a release by informing it through counsel that it was the bank's intention to bring an action to foreclose only on Unit 309. On being informed of this, Appellant, through counsel informed Plaintiff that such action would be in bad faith, and that such action would be vigorously defended (R273, R287).

In anticipation of service of Plaintiff's complaint Appellant, as a courtesy, informed Plaintiff that it had not been paid the money due under the Agreed Order. Appellant further stated that it believed that the terms of the Agreed Order were such that the lien was not valid until the funds were paid (R273, R287). For whatever reason, Plaintiff served Appellant with the summons and complaint prior to the payment of the funds due under the Agreed Order. (R273-74)

The Amended Complaint which was served on Appellant was the Oct. 18, 2007, complaint. It did not list Holly Springs Realty as a party, make any claim against Holly Springs Realty, or contain any operative facts to tie Holly Springs Realty to the case (R42). Appellant's counsel, unwilling for trial strategy reasons to seek a dismissal without prejudice, suggested to Plaintiff that it amend its complaint. Plaintiff informed Appellant that it was Appellant's duty to answer (R288), and so Appellant did so, stating as its first defense the failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, along with numerous other defenses (R161). Appellant also filed a counterclaim against

Given that Appellant had actually told Plaintiff that it would seek a dismissal if the complaint was filed before the funds were paid, Appellant can't help but wonder if the failure to pay and the deficient complaint was an effort to goad Appellant into seeking a dismissal. Appellant was originally joined under the condition that its title not be questioned, but had it won a dismissal this provision would not have applied once the complaint was re-filed.

Plaintiff, charging, among other things, breach of contract, breach of duty to a surety, bad faith and because Appellant suspected a secret and collusive agreement, abuse of process (R171).

On July 31, 2008, after Appellant had filed its Answer, Plaintiff tendered the funds due under the Agreed Order. Maintaining that Plaintiff was in material breach of the contract, Appellant deposited said funds in the registry of the court (R180).

On September 19, 2008, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Leave of Court to File a Second Amended Complaint to Add Defendants Holly Springs Realty Group and Lynn Albriton as defendants. This motion was granted on September 23, 2008. This Second Amended Complaint was never filed with the court or served on Appellant.<sup>4</sup>

On October 23, 2008, Plaintiff filed a motion with the court requesting summary judgment and foreclosure and an order of sale against Appellant (R234). Appellant responded in opposition to the motion and filed a motion requesting summary judgment against Plaintiff requesting dismissal and granting of its counterclaim (R246, 270). A hearing was scheduled for Dec. 3, however the parties were not first up and could not be heard.

On Dec. 8, 2008, Attorney Dana E. Kelly, representing the Five Other Owners, requested a Subpoena Ducas Tecum to be served on John W. Lee, Jr. The Subpoena asked for all information concerning Lee's purchase of Units 305, 306 and 307 at the Van Buren, copies of Lee's correspondence with Attorney General Jim Hood, Van Buren Group, Claiborne Frazier, BancorpSouth and other parties. (R290)

As a result it was soon learned that in Feb. 19, 2004, Lee had purchased and apparently paid for two units, 305 and 306, which had not been released from BancorpSouth's mortgage. Obviously

Although not a matter of lower court record, Appellant did not receive notice of this motion or hearing. Appellant certainly would not have objected to the amendment.

some pressure was brought to bear, because the bank granted a gratuitous release to both of these units on May 15, 2004. On June 8, 2004 Lee closed on an additional unit, 307, which the bank released a week later for \$50,000 (R340).

BancorpSouth had not revealed this information in any of its former pleadings. It informed Appellant and later informed the Court as part of its Memorandum filed with the Court on January 27, 2009, in which it stated that the sales to Lee had taken place without the bank's knowledge (R339).

On Jan. 27, 2009 the parties again were scheduled for a hearing, but again were not first up and could not be heard. The hearing was rescheduled for May 6.

On Feb. 13, 2009, Appellant filed a Motion Requesting a Docket Entry of Default and Other Relief against the Five Other Owners (R373). The Co-defendants filed a Motion to Strike and objected strongly to Appellant's language in its motion (R379).<sup>5</sup>

In reviewing the court file, Appellant discovered that the Five Other Owners had not been served with the summons and complaint within the 120-day period from its filing as required by M.C.R.P Rule 4(h). Appellant then filed a Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice for Plaintiff's Failure to Fully Prosecute its Action and Failure To Join All Necessary and Indispensable Parties (R385).

Both of Appellant's motions and the Motion to Strike were heard on March 26, 2009. Both of Appellant's motions were denied. The Five Non-responding Co-defendants' Motion to Strike was granted (R422, R433, R434).

On March 13, 2009 a summons was issued to Lynn Albriton, co-tenant to one of the units

Appellant regrets the use of the word "illegal" in its motion, which connotes criminal behavior. Appellant maintains that it believes the behavior of the Five Other Owners was an unlawful (tortuous, or at the least outside the rules of civil proceedure) abuse of process. As to whether the answers of the Five Other Owners to Appellant's Request for Admission were false and misleading, members of the Court are welcome to decide that issue for themselves, should they wish.

subject to the mortgage (R400). On April 7, 2009, a Waiver of Service of Process signed by Lynn Albriton was filed with the court. It had been signed on March 20, 2009, 179 days after the Court granted permission for her to be joined, and 533 days after the filing of the original complaint (R427).

On May 6, 2009, the Court heard BancorpSouth's request for Summary Judgment. Appellant did not set its request for Summary Judgment for hearing, choosing instead to await the outcome of the May 6 hearing. Plaintiff's request for Summary Judgment was granted, and the portion of the property covered by the deed of trust owned by Appellant was ordered sold (R437).

On May 6, 2009 the Court entered an Order of Sale to take place on June 12, 2009. Due to publication scheduling problems this order was amended on May 19, 2009 and the sale date was rescheduled to June 19, 2009 (R442).

On June 3, 2009 Appellant filed its notice of appeal of both its pre-trial motions and the summary judgment (R449).

On June 12, 2009, Appellant filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy protection under the United States Bankruptcy Code. As a result of the automatic stay, the sale of the property was postponed. On August 13, 2009, Appellant's adversary proceeding was dismissed and the stay was lifted.

On September 24, 2009, the Court held a hearing to set a new sale date for the condominium. The property was ordered to be sold on Friday, October 23, with a confirmation hearing to be held on Thursday, October 29.

On September 24, 2009, The Court also heard Appellant's request for a stay of the Court's order without supersedeas bond. The request was denied and supersedeas was set at \$200,000. Appellant was unable to post supersedeas, and so the foreclosure sale will have been held by the time this brief is received by the Court, or shortly thereafter.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

When a mortgaged property is sold at a tax sale, Section 27-43-5 of the Mississippi Code provides that the lienholder must receive notice of the expiration of the redemption period of the tax sale. If the lienholder shall fail to receive such notice, then Section 27-43-11 provides "A failure to give the required notice to such lienors shall render the tax title void as to such lienors, and as to them only, and such purchaser shall be entitled to a refund of all such taxes paid the state, county or other taxing district after filing his claim therefor as provided by law."

Holly Springs Realty Group was such a tax sale purchaser. BancorpSouth was a lienholder who claimed not to have received notice. Holly Springs Realty agreed to the reinstatement and/or the recognition of that lien upon the reimbursement of the taxes paid.

Holly Springs Realty Group purchased a piece of real property at the tax sale. Title transferred and vested on that day. It was a perfect title, free and clear of any liens and encumbrances of any kinds, save only for the lien of the Plaintiff, provided that it did not receive notice. Appellant did not purchase an equity of redemption, and its right to its property does not require it to beg at the altar of equity. It owns its property as a matter of law.

BancorpSouth and Appellant reached an agreement to have the tax sale set aside as to the lienholder only and put it into the form of an Agreed Order which required Plaintiff to reimburse Appellant for the taxes it had paid. The record would indicate that both parties may not have fully understood the mechanics of Section 27-43-11, but that is not uncommon when parties enter into an Agreed Order.<sup>6</sup> There was a benefit to Plaintiff in having the issue settled with no further objection from Appellant, and Appellant benefitted from an assurance that its tax expenditures

Appellant's counsel clearly misstated a portion of the law in oral argument before the Chancellor. Statutes can be confusing, and the simplicity of the Agreed Order is what makes it so useful in settling legal disputes by reducing them to contract form.

would be reimbursed.

Appellant insists that this Agreed Order is a settlement agreement and a contract, and that by breaching the contract by failing to pay the funds due, Plaintiff lost its benefit, i.e. the recognition and reinstatement of the lien.

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