IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

HOLLY SPRINGS REALTY GROUP, LLC

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

٧.

CASE NO. 2009-CA-00923



BANCORPSOUTH BANK, et al.

PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of the case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Holly Springs Realty Group, LLC, Appellant
- 2. Frank M. Hurdle, Attorney for Appellant
- 3. William F. Schneller, Attorney in bankruptcy for Appellant

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

8: Did the Chancellor, by allowing Plaintiff to unilaterally grant enlargement of time by which certain parties might answer, show bias in favor of Plaintiff that Appellant was not assured of receiving a fair hearing. (Issue 7 of the Brief of the Appellant)

Rule of Law

"The appellant bears the burden on appeal, and we will entertain no claims for which no supporting authority has been cited." *Kelly v. International Games*Technology, 874 So.2d 977, 981 (Miss. 2004). Further, the appellant must base his assertion on the record. *Id.* The Court requires appellants to make condensed statements of the case and to "support propositions of law with reason and authorities." *Pate v. State*, 419 So.2d 1324, 1326 (Miss. 1982). The Supreme Court has "repeatedly held that failure to cite any authority may be treated as a procedural bar, and it is under no obligation to consider the assignment." *Soriano v. Gillespie*, 857 So.2d 64, 67 (Miss. App. 2003), *citing McClain v. State*, 625 So.2d 774, 781 (Miss. 1993).

If the Court should decide to review this issue, BXS would provide the Court with the following references as to the standard for determining whether the Chancellor was bias. The Mississippi Supreme Court presumes a trial judge is qualified and unbiased. *In re Enlargement and Extension of Mun. Boundaries*, 920 So.2d 452, 458 (Miss. 2006). This presumption can be disproven by showing evidence that creates a "reasonable doubt as to the judge's impartiality." *Id.* The test in doing so is whether "a reasonable person, knowing all of the circumstances, would harbor doubts about the [judge's] impartiality." *Id.*, citing *Turner* v. *State*, 573 So.2d 657, 678 (Miss. 1990). The party alleging that the trial judge is biased "has a substantial burden to show the grounds therefore." *Turner*, at 678.

<u>Argument</u>

Appellant cites no case law bearing on the issue of Rule 6(b) or how the Chancellor's actions in relation to that rule of Civil Procedure would result in an abuse of discretion or error requiring reversal. AP-38. Appellant has provided neither adequate propositions of law nor facts from the record in support of his assertions. Therefore, this Court should decline to review this Issue of Appellant's brief.

If this Court does decide to entertain this assignment, BXS would argue that it was within the Chancellor's discretion to approve the stipulation of the extension of time agreed to by BXS and the Five Other Owners, and did not evidence any prejudicial preference to one party or another. There are no supporting facts that would show bias by the Court, or that Holly Springs was prejudiced.

While the Court did make references to the Five Other Owners title, which was not in evidence, the Chancellor did not base his ruling on those assumptions of fact.

T-42. His ruling was based solely on the deficiencies of Appellant's tax title. T-58. A reasonable person knowing all the facts would not doubt the Chancellor's impartiality. There is no relation between the Chancellor and the parties or their attorneys, and there are no allegations of such. There is no prior involvement with the Chancellor and the facts of the case, and there are no allegations of such. Appellant is simply saddled with a tax title that is subject to a deed of trust.

9: In an *in rem* action, where the court must decide if or how properties are to be charged for the payment of a debt, did the Chancellor err in granting summary judgment and foreclosure against Appellant when five other Defendants owning property subject to the debt had not filed an answer (Issue 8 of the Brief of the Appellant)

Rule of Law

Rule 42(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure states:

The Court, in furtherance of convenience or to avoid prejudice, or when separate trials will be conducive to expedition and economy, may order a separate trial of any claim, cross-claim, counterclaim, or third party claim, or of any separate issue or of any number of claims, cross-claims, counterclaims, third-party claims, or issues, always preserving inviolate the right of trial by jury as declared by Section 31 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890.

The official comment to this rule states that "the purpose of Rule 42 is to give the court broad discretion to decide how cases on its docket are to be tried so that the business of the court may be dispatched with expedition and economy while providing justice to the parties." (West 2009).

The issue as to separate hearings or trials is within the discretion of the trial judge. Sherman v. Stewart Co., 216 Miss. 549, 556 (Miss. 1953). With it, comes the responsibility to ensure that all parties are afforded a fair trial. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co. v. Simpson, 477 So.2d 242, 254 (Miss. 1985), Chief Justice Patterson for the court speaking in dicta about M.R.C.P. 42(b).

In the case, of *Ammons v. Cordova Floors, Inc.*, the Mississippi Court of Appeals held that a Circuit Court Judge had not erred by treating a motion hearing as a separate trial on that issue. 904 So.2d 185, 190 (Miss. App. 2005). The Appellate Court reasoned that despite Rule 56 being a more proper procedure for ruling on the motion before the lower court, Rule 42(b) allowed for a separate trial for a

counterclaim. *Id.* The Appellate Court further stated that the parties had waived any objections they had by failing to object to the Court's procedure at the hearing. *Id.* "Therefore, we decline to hold the trial judge in error and review his findings under the same deferential standard accorded those of a chancellor." *Id.*

Argument

The trial court's bifurcation of the foreclosure on the separate units of the Van Buren Condominium was within the Chancellor's discretion as provided by M.R.C.P. 42(b). In paragraph 32 of its Amended Complaint, BXS requested "immediate judicial foreclosure on the single unit (unit number 309) ...and, promptly thereafter, and if necessary, to judicially foreclose on unit numbers 111, 102, 201, 207, and 303. T10. This request in effect asked the Court to separate the foreclosure of the several units, and to grant separate hearings. The separation of the foreclosures only served to simplify the matters presented before the court, as can be seen by the volume of pleadings filed at the time of this appeal, which concerned merely the foreclosure of one unit, not six.

BXS contends that the hearing on BXS's "Motion to remove Holly Springs Realty Group, LLC from Unit 309 of Van Buren Condominiums and for immediate approval to pursue Foreclosure on Unit 309 of the Van Buren Condominiums" was a separate trial on the issue, not a hearing on a motion for summary judgment. BXS did not ask for summary judgment, but asked for the foreclosure of Unit 309. T-234. Not once did BXS state the words summary judgment in the motion, during the hearing, or in the final order. Additionally, a standard for granting summary judgment was not presented to the court by either party.

The simple counter argument to all of Appellant's contentions under this issue, is that regardless of the other unit owners' involvement in this litigation, Unit 309 was always going to be wiped out in this foreclosure action. There were arguably three positions that the trial court could have taken as to the Appellant's interest in Unit 309 as to BXS's lien. The first position, and the one that BXS maintains is proper, is that Appellant as a buyer beware tax sale purchaser, whose title was subject to BXS's lien, stepped into Van Buren's shoes. The second position, is that while Appellant holds a perfect title subject to BXS's lien, said title is antagonistic to Van Buren and therefore does not carry the equitable protections that the other unit owners enjoy; it therefore cannot invoke inverse alienation. The last position, is that Appellant holds a perfect title subject to BXS's lien, that inverse alienation applies, and that said title vested at the date of the tax sale, so that Appellant is third in line to be foreclosed on. The debt still owed BXS is roughly 1.2 million dollars and the value of each condo unit ranges from \$300,000.00 to \$325,000.00. T-49, (Frank Hurdle, counsel of Holly Spring answering the Chancellor's question). It would therefore necessitate the foreclosure of four units to satisfy the debt still owed BXS. The point of this analysis is to illustrate that regardless of what position it may take, Appellant is wiped out in the foreclosure, therefore Appellant's arguments are moot. The trial court when deciding this issue was clearly within its discretion in finding that Appellant was not biased, prejudiced, or harmed by the Five Other Owners lack of participation in the litigation.

10: Whether the Chancellor erred in finding that the actions of BancorpSouth Bank were not a material breach of the Agreed Order to reimburse Holly Springs Realty Group, LLC for taxes paid, when the monies agreed upon were deposited with the registry of the Court, and the Appellant has since taken custody of said money, all prior to the foreclosure? (Issue 9 of the Brief of the Appellant)

Rule of Law

Whether there exists a contract is a question of fact, to be decided by the either the jury or the trial judge. *Hunt v. Coker*, 741 So.2d 1011, 1014 (Miss. App. 1999); *citing* 75A Am. Jur. 2d Trial § 791 (1991). A valid contract consists of six elements "(1) two or more contracting parties; (2) consideration; (3) an agreement that is sufficiently definite; (4) parties with the legal capacity to make a contract; (5) mutual assent; and (6) no legal prohibition precluding contract formation." *Bert Allen Toyota*, *Inc. v. Grasz*, 909 So.2d 763, 768 (Miss. App. 2005). *Black's Law Dictionary* defines mutual assent as follows:

mutual assent. Agreement by both parties to a contract, usu. in the form of offer and acceptance. In modern contract law, mutual assent is determined by an objective standard - that is, by the apparent intention of the parties as manifested by their actions.

(West 2007). A contract must have assent and consideration. Hunt, supra, at 1015.

A mutual mistake warrants reformation, while a unilateral mistake requires rescission. *Grasz*, supra at 768. Before reformation is warranted, however, the proof of the mutual mistake must be clear and convincing. *Id.*, at 769. For the court to grant rescission due to a unilateral mistake, a four part test must be satisfied. *Id.* "First, the mistake was of so fundamental a character that the minds of the parties have not, in fact, met. Second, there was no gross negligence on the part of the

plaintiff. Third, no intervening rights have accrued. Fourth, the parties may still be placed in status quo." *Id*.

The general principle behind rescission is that the parties are returned to the status quo that existed pre-contract. "Therefore, the general rule is that a party who wishes to rescind a contract must return the opposite party to the status quo." Am Jur Contracts § 574, Generally; rule requiring restoration (West 2009).

<u>Argument</u>

Holly Springs argues that the Agreed Order constitutes a contract between BXS and Holly Springs "to give and reserve to each of the parties, in writing, certain of the rights available to them under Mississippi Law." Appellant's Brief p. 41. Holly Springs asserts that said order was a settlement agreement intending to avoid litigation, and since BXS paid the sum beyond what Holly Springs considers a reasonable time, it breached the contract. The Agreed Order was entered into pursuant to a motion ore tenus between legal counsel for BXS and Holly Springs. Oddly, when such was done, Holly Springs was not a party to the litigation because it had not moved to be joined as a necessary party, nor had BXS moved to do so as required under the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

What litigation was to be avoided? Was BXS agreeing not to seek foreclosure on Unit 309 before seeking foreclosure on the remaining units? Did BXS agree to pay the amount stated in the Agreed Order in exchange for Holly Springs not contesting the priority status of BXS'Ss mortgage covering Unit 309? The Agreed Order is simply void of terms. T136. Apparently, Appellant thought that the agreement of BXS in the Agreed Order was that its recognition of their tax title was a recognition of title

superior to those of the five other unit owners. While, BXS was under the impression that this agreement would avoid further litigation with Appellant, and it would be allowed to foreclose on Unit 309 immediately unopposed. It appears that both parties were mistaken in their assessment of the agreement.

It is BXS'S position that a contract was not created under the Agreed Order. This was due to two of the elements required to create a contract, as cited by the court in *Grasz*, not having been satisfied. The terms of the agreement were not definite and there was no mutual assent by the parties. The Agreed Order was so void of terms as to be vague and ambiguous, this in turn led the parties to different conclusions about the intended purpose of the agreement, as can be seen by the different positions taken by the parties in the current litigation. With a lack of definite terms and no mutual assent, a contract was not created. As such, the Chancellor was perfectly within his discretion in determining what would be an equitable relief for BXS under the current set of facts.

Alternatively, while as stated BXS does not contend a contract was created by the Agreed Order, if a contract had been created, BXS could not have been deemed to have materially breached it. There are no provisions contained in the Agreed Order as to when BXS will be required to make payment. There is no "time is of the essence" clause. Payment of the agreed upon money was made less than four months after the Agreed Order was entered with the court. The total sum paid to Appellant under the agreement was \$24,005.89. \$1,989.52 of that sum was interest paid at the agreed rate of 18%. The Court did not order BXS to tender the money, it did so of its own volition.

As for bad faith and fair dealing issues, since Holly Springs, as owner of Unit 309, was a necessary party to the litigation, BXS filed its petition to join Holly Springs as such. It was not to slander the title of Holly Springs to Unit 309. BXS never informed Holly Springs that it would not pursue foreclosure of 309 first. Further, Holly Springs claims it "made serious efforts to negotiate a release of unit 309 and Plaintiff refused to negotiate in good faith". The only thing Holly Springs did was to offer to buy a release of the Unit from the mortgagee for the sum of \$200,000.00 which if accepted would have been far less than the \$351,000.00 received in the foreclosure sale. R-252, (the amount Unit 309 was sold for at foreclosure is not in the record). A release to Appellant at those terms would have placed BXS in an adverse position to the remaining Defendants in light of the law of this State.

Appellant claims that BXS misled them as to their intentions behind the Agreed Order, and that they believed BXS wanted to simply reinstate its mortgage to protect its lien. For what other purpose would a bank want to protect its lien other than to be able to collect its security in the case of default. That is the whole intent behind a lien, to secure payment. This is a frivolous argument.

BXS did deal fairly with Holly Springs and not in bad faith, or else Appellant would never have received any money from their purchase of a buyer beware tax title. Accordingly, due to there being no provisions of timeliness in the Agreed Order, no breach occurred; the money was paid well in advance of the foreclosure, and Appellant has accepted tender of the monies. The terms of the Agreed Order should be regarded as having been fully performed by both parties.

Appellant also makes the contention that due to BXS'S alleged breach, Holly Springs has a right to rescind the contract. This argument is moot because, upon Appellant getting the contract rescinded, the parties would be returned to the status quo they enjoyed pre-contract. Pre-Contract, BXS had a first paramount lien against Unit 309 due to the City of Oxford having failed to comply with statutory notice requirements. This would allow BXS to foreclose on Unit 309 immediately and prior to the foreclosure of the other units, just as they already have.

11: Whether the Chancellor erred in denying to estop BancorpSouth Bank from foreclosing on Appellant due to dishonest behavior and bad faith toward Appellant, when there was no proof of either. (Issue 4 of the Brief of the Appellant)

Rule of Law

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